RECEIVED

May 20 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

VICTORIA COXE THREATT,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000467

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GARY H. JOHNSON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the trial court erred in ruling that the due process protections contained in the South Carolina Constitution required a showing of bad faith before dismissal of criminal charges when the state destroys evidence that had been properly requested by the accused through discovery and which reasonably might be expected to play a significant role in their defense at trial?

2.

Whether the trial court erred in finding that agent Lugos had reasonable suspicion to justify a search of appellant's home under S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-410 (2010) when such justification was based on the presence of money in appellant's purse for which a reasonable explanation was provided and disputed facts which Lugos made impossible for impartial resolution by deleting his body camera interaction with appellant?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Victoria C. Threatt, was indicted for trafficking in methamphetamine, possession with intent to distribute marijuana, and possession of oxycodone by a Lexington County grand jury on August 8, 2022. R. 414. She was tried before the Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, and a jury on March 13 - 15, 2023. R. 1. At trial, appellant was represented by Jean Popowski and Hanna Lapp. Kelly Oppenheimer and Player Long represented the state.

On March 15, 2023, the jury convicted appellant of all three charges. R. 362, l. 17 - 363, l. 9. Judge McLeod sentenced appellant to twenty-five years on the trafficking in methamphetamine charge and five years on each of the remaining charges. R. 369, l. 12 – 370, l. 4.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant is 54-years-old with substantial health problems. R. 113, ll. 10 – 11. She suffers from lupus with resulting sleep disorder and pain. R. 283, l. 16 – 284, l. 6. At the time of her arrest, appellant depended on her longtime companion, Clay Helms, for care needs. R. 283, ll. 6 – 15. Appellant was charged in the present case after admitting ownership of drugs found in a black bag in her home. R. 73, ll. 3 - 17. Appellant testified that she was not the owner of the bag in question, did not know where it came from, and confessed ownership of it solely to protect Helms from getting into trouble. R. 65, l. 22 – 66, l. 14.

At the time of arrest, appellant was on probation for a prior drug offense but had not been assigned a probation agent by Probation, Parole, and Pardon Services (PPP). R. 64, l. 23 – 65, l. 21. There were conflicting versions of the home visit conducted by supervisory probation officer Salomon Lugos on March 8, 2022.¹ Lugos performed the home visit based in part on policy and in part on an alleged tip from a confidential informant (CI) that appellant was selling drugs from the location. R. 14, l. 12 – 15, l. 2; 22, l. 17 – 23, l. 24. The nature of this CI is completely unknown, as appellant’s counsel was not informed of their existence until just before trial since the various reports omitted any reference to a CI. R. 22, l. 12 – 23, l. 24. The trial judge discounted the existence of the alleged CI and indicated this alleged tip could be taken out of the equation in analyzing the legal issues involved. R. 103, ll. 14 – 18.

Lugos described his initial entry as having the door to the home opened only slightly and his view of the interior blocked by a person later identified as Gary Rowell. R. 16, ll. 2 – 20. Lugos also claimed Rowell lied about appellant being in the restroom since he observed her sitting on a

¹ Lugos completed appellant’s intake forms for PPP, but was not her assigned probation officer. R. 64, l. 23 – 65, l. 21. During this process, Lugos told appellant she was “not going to make it” on probation. R. 65, ll. 8 – 21.

sofa close to the entry when the door was fully opened by Rowell. R. 34, l. 4 – 35, l. 20. Rowell, a neighbor with no connection to the crime charged, contradicted this version of events at trial, indicating appellant had been in the bathroom and was returning to the living area and had just started to sit down as he opened the door for Lugos. R. 287, l. 3 – 288, l. 13. Rowell identified the drug bag as being brought into the home shortly before Lugos arrived by another neighbor, Melissa Gainey. R. 285, l. 5 - 286, l. 19. Lugos knew Gainey, who was seated next to appellant when Lugos arrived and in close proximity to where the drug bag was found, and allowed her to leave the residence after asking Gainey if she was on probation. R. 36, ll. 11 - 17.

As Lugos conducted his “home visit,” he immediately used a flashlight and began looking around the living area. R. 66, l. 20 – 67, l. 9. Lugos asked appellant to open her purse, which she did. R. 67, l. 16 – 68, l. 5. She had a “large amount” of cash, but explained to Lugos it was from her stimulus check since she did not have a bank account. R. 21, ll. 2 – 12. Lugos then asked about the black bag left in the seating area by Gainey as she exited the home.² R. 67, l. 3 – 68, l. 11.

Lugos and appellant clashed over what was said before Lugos ordered this bag opened. Lugos claimed appellant volunteered that there was a marijuana grinder in the bag before appellant opened the drug bag. R. 40, l. 25 – 41, l. 23. In contrast, appellant testified that she was not aware of what was in the bag and only opened it upon being told she could not refuse, even though she told Lugos it was not her bag. R. 67, l. 22 – 69, l. 17. As she unzipped the bag, she noticed the grinder in question and mentioned it being in the bag to Lugos. R. 78, ll. 7 – 17. Upon seeing the grinder and some clear bags containing white crystal substances, Lugos commanded appellant and Helms to wait on the front porch for the police and called the Lexington County Sheriff’s

² This bag was described as a “tool” bag that ultimately was found to contain the only drugs found during the search of the premises. R. 20, ll. 1 – 5; 68, ll. 17 – 21; 196, l. 22 – 197, l. 6.

Department. R. 69, ll. 15 – 25. The sheriff’s department obtained a search warrant based upon the information provided by Lugos. R. 57, ll. 20 – 22.

Luckily the factual disparities between these witnesses could easily be resolved, since Lugos’ body worn camera recorded the entire encounter; from the front door encounter with Rowell, to allowing Gainey to leave, to his interactions with appellant. R. 29, l. 8 – 30, l. 20. To the benefit of appellant, her counsel requested discovery material early in the case, serving a motion under both Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) and Rule 5, SCRCrimP, for discovery shortly after the arrest on June 29, 2022. R. 89, l. 23 – 16. In fact, the state prepared responses to the discovery requests a month before they were even made, on May 5, 2022, demonstrating the state was diligent in complying with its discovery obligations. R. 279, l. 22 – 280, l. 11; R. 381

Unfortunately for appellant, PPP deleted the video sometime in *September of 2022* when Lugos failed to flag it as important in an ongoing criminal case. R. 25, l. 21 – 27, l. 22. Having deleted the video evidence, the state relied solely on the testimony of Lugos, contradicted by both appellant and Rowell on key points as discussed *infra*, as to the events that lead to the search of the drug bag. Lugos’ report of the incident, completed March 11, 2022, was not supplied to defense counsel until January 13, 2023. R. 280, ll. 19-23; R. 381. This report indicated the alleged existence of a CI for the first time and confirmed the existence of his body camera video. R. 280, ll. 19-23; R. 381.

Defense counsel moved to dismiss the charges due to a violation of her due process rights under *Brady*, and for discovery violations under Rule 5 of the SCRCrimP. R. 90, l. 7 – 92, l. 19. Defense counsel also moved to suppress the drugs seized from Gainey’s bag as an improper search lacking reasonable suspicion. R. 89, ll. 17 - 21. The trial judge denied the motions.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“[W]ith the dawn of the technological age, appellate courts are no longer dependent on the trial court in our review of evidence.” State v. Frasier, 437 S.C. 625, 632, 879 S.E.2d 762, 766 (2022).³ “Accordingly, appellate review of a motion to suppress based on the Fourth Amendment involves a two-step analysis. This dual inquiry means we review the trial court’s factual findings for any evidentiary support, but the ultimate legal conclusion—in this case whether reasonable suspicion exists—is a question of law subject to de novo review.” Id. at 633-634, 879 S.E.2d at 766. When this review encompasses the destruction by the state of evidence likely to be important to the due process rights of the accused, this Court should, as a matter of state constitutional law, “find that fundamental fairness requires this Court to evaluate the State’s failure to preserve potentially exculpatory evidence in the context of the entire record.” Commonwealth v. Henderson, 582 N.E.2d 496, 497 (Mass. 1991).

³The Court noted in Fraiser that the “most obvious example is the advent of body and dashcam footage, whereby this Court reviews the same video as the trial court.” Id. at 632. 879 S.E.2d at 766. Due to the sole action of the state in this case, that opportunity has been denied this Court.

ARGUMENT

1. The trial court erred in ruling that the due process protections contained in the South Carolina Constitution required a showing of bad faith before dismissal of criminal charges when the state destroys evidence that had been properly requested by the accused through discovery and which reasonably might be expected to play a significant role in their defense at trial.

A. How the issue was raised at trial.

Counsel for appellant filed a motion to dismiss the indictment due to the destruction of the video from the body worn camera by agent Lugos due to the state's late disclosure of the existence of the video and its destruction due to the act of Lugos failing to preserve the video from PPP's automatic deletion of videos. R. 280, ll. 19-23; R. 381. Defense counsel asserted the state's failure to preserve the video violated the "South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure, the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Section 3 of the South Carolina Constitution, the right to present a complete defense, as guaranteed by Section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution." R. 381. The trial court conducted an evidentiary hearing concerning the nature of the body camera evidence, the discovery exchanges leading up to trial, and the video's destruction. The pertinent facts concerning this issue should not be in dispute.⁴ Defense counsel timely requested discovery, and the video in question fell within the scope of those requests. R. 89, l. 23 – 92, l. 10. Agent Lugos had the ability to flag the video from his body camera as related to an ongoing prosecution which would have preserved the video evidence. R.

⁴ The content and resulting importance of the video was disputed between the parties, but the essential facts surrounding its existence, deletion, and the discovery timeline were not disputed.

161, ll. 1 - 14. Lugos failed to flag the video in this case, and it was deleted by the PPP computer system well after the filing of the discovery requests on behalf of appellant. R. 161, ll. 6 – 25. Defense counsel asserted dismissal as the appropriate remedy since, due to the nature of the disputed testimony between appellant, Lugos, and Rowell, the video evidence was irreplaceable since it would definitively resolve those disputed facts. R. 98, l. 11 – 100, l. 7.

B. The controlling law regarding destruction in possession of the government useful to a suspect’s criminal trial.

In Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), the United States Supreme Court held “the suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution.” Id. at 87. “A Brady violation occurs when the evidence at issue is: 1) favorable to the accused; 2) in the possession of or known to the prosecution; 3) suppressed by the prosecution; and 4) material to the defendant's guilt or punishment.” State v. Durant, 430 S.C. 98, 107, 844 S.E.2d 49, 53 (2020).

“Whatever duty the Constitution imposes on the States to preserve evidence, that duty must be limited to evidence that might be expected to play a *significant role in the suspect's defense*.” California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 488 (1984) (emphasis added). When that evidence has “an exculpatory value that was apparent before the evidence was destroyed” and was “of such a nature that the defendant would be unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means” then the accused has been deprived of due process and dismissal is the appropriate remedy. Id. at 489.

In contrast, when the evidence lacks apparent exculpatory value but instead may be classified as only potentially exculpatory, a showing of bad faith for a violation of due process under the United States Constitution is required. Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 58

(1988) (“We therefore hold that unless a criminal defendant can show bad faith on the part of the police, failure to preserve potentially useful evidence does not constitute a denial of due process of law.”). Thus, under the Constitution of the United States, to “establish a due process violation, a defendant must demonstrate (1) that the State destroyed the evidence in bad faith [Youngblood], or (2) that the evidence possessed an exculpatory value apparent before the evidence was destroyed and the defendant cannot obtain other evidence of comparable value by other means [Trombetta].” State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 538–39, 552 S.E.2d 300, 307 (2001) (emphasis and brackets added).

The Youngblood prong of the analysis (requiring bad faith) was revisited in State v. Reaves, 414 S.C. 118, 777 S.E.2d 213 (2015). In Reaves, the South Carolina Supreme Court noted that “[a]lthough the record is replete with indications the police investigation was deeply flawed, the record also contains no indication these flaws were the product of more than mere negligence” and denied dismissal for various pieces of lost evidence, the value of which fell squarely under Youngblood’s potentially exculpatory sphere. Reaves, at 129, 777 S.E.2d at 219. Importantly, our Supreme Court noted several states declining to follow the “bad faith” requirement from Youngblood under state constitutional grounds and noting the issue under the South Carolina Constitution was not before it:

A number of state courts have declined to follow the bad faith standard established in Youngblood based on state law grounds. *See, e.g., State v. Ferguson*, 2 S.W.3d 912, 917 (Tenn. 1999) (“Because we deem the preservation of the defendant’s fundamental right to a fair trial to be a paramount consideration here, we join today those jurisdictions which have rejected the Youngblood analysis in its pure form.”); State v. Osakalumi, 194 W.Va. 758, 461 S.E.2d 504, 512 (1995) (“As a matter of state constitutional law, we find that fundamental fairness requires this Court to evaluate the State’s failure to preserve potentially exculpatory evidence in the context of the entire record.”); Commonwealth v. Henderson, 411 Mass. 309, 582 N.E.2d 496, 497 (1991) (“The rule under the due process

provisions of the Massachusetts Constitution is stricter than that stated in the Youngblood opinion.”). *However, Reaves does not ask this Court to do so here; his argument rests solely on the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.*

Reaves, 414 S.C. at 127, 777 S.E.2d at 217 (emphasis added).

In addition to the states referenced in Reaves, multiple other states have rejected the Youngblood “bad faith” requirement. *See Lee v. State*, 503 P.3d 811, 818 (Alaska Ct. App. 2021) (“Unlike the federal constitution, the Alaska Constitution does not require a finding of bad faith in order to establish a due process violation.”); Hammond v. State, 569 A.2d 81, 87 (Del. 1989) (“We remain convinced that fundamental fairness, as an element of due process, requires the State’s failure to preserve evidence that could be favorable to the defendant ‘[to] be evaluated in the context of the entire record.’”); State v. Matafeo, 787 P.2d 671, 673 (Haw. 1990) (“We believe the strict reading of the due process principles in Arizona v. Youngblood would preclude us, in cases where no bad faith is shown, from inquiring into the favorableness of the evidence or the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of its loss.”); State v. Tiedemann, 162 P.3d 1106, 1115 (Utah 2007). (“[T]he culpability or bad faith of the state should be only one consideration, not a bright line test, as a matter of due process under article 1, section 7 of the Utah Constitution.”); State v. Delisle, 648 A.2d 632, 643 (Vt. 1994) (“We believe, however, that Youngblood is both too broad and too narrow. It is too broad because it would require the imposition of sanctions even though a defendant has demonstrated no prejudice from the lost evidence. It is too narrow because it limits due process violations to only those cases in which a defendant can demonstrate bad faith, even though the negligent loss of evidence may critically prejudice a defendant.”).

This case presents the vehicle to answer the question invited in Reaves of whether the bad faith requirement outlined in Youngblood should control under the South Carolina Constitution.

C. Due Process protections are greater under South Carolina’s Constitution than the minimum due process protections established by the United States’ Constitution.

South Carolina’s Constitution should provide a greater degree of protection for due process rights than the United States’ Constitution. The South Carolina Constitution provides greater protections and rights than the United States’ Constitution in several areas. *See Moore v. Stirling*, 436 S.C. 207, 223, 871 S.E.2d 423, 432 (2022) (“The discussion in Pulley as to the Eighth Amendment is not controlling of a defendant’s right to due process under our state constitution.”); *see also Planned Parenthood S. Atl. v. State*, 438 S.C. 188, 199, 882 S.E.2d 770, 776 (2023) (holding South Carolinians enjoy “protection not found in the United States Constitution” to be secure from “unreasonable invasions of privacy”); *State v. Counts*, 413 S.C. 153, 174, 776 S.E.2d 59, 70 (2015) (holding police use of knock and talk to target homeowners must satisfy “the heightened privacy protection afforded by the South Carolina Constitution”).

The language in Article I, Section 3 of the South Carolina Constitution related to due process largely mirrors the language used in the 14th Amendment to the United States Constitution.⁵ However, Article I, Section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution guarantees the right of those charged with crimes to “be fully heard in his defense” which is language that is absent in the United States’ Constitution. The additional protection for the due process rights under the South Carolina Constitution is in part rooted on this added protection once the criminal process

⁵ Compare “[N]or shall any person be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law” S.C. Const. art. I, § 3 with “[N]or shall any state deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.” U.S. Const. amend. IV.

begins. This “fully heard in his defense” clause and the added due process protection it provides has been previously recognized, though not as a specific expansion of due process beyond the interpretation offered by the Supreme Court of the United States. *See State v. Nelson*, 431 S.C. 287, 308, 847 S.E.2d 480, 492 (Ct. App. 2020) (noting forcing a trial when a key witness is unavailable could deprive the defendant of his right to be fully heard). Guidance can be provided by the South Carolina Supreme Court’s decision in *State v. Roberts*, 364 S.C. 583, 614 S.E.2d 626 (2005)(examining whether Art. I, § 14 of the South Carolina Constitution provided a state constitutional right to proceed *pro se* on direct appeal). While noting that a criminal defendant “clearly does not have a federal constitutional right to proceed *pro se*” on direct appeal, the South Carolina Supreme Court found “that language such as that contained in Art. I, § 14 of the South Carolina Constitution does not apply to appeals” but that the appellate court may “in its discretion, allow an appellant to proceed *pro se* in an appeal from a criminal conviction.” *Roberts*, 364 S.C. at 588–89, 614 S.E.2d at 629. The *Roberts* holding, and its examination of the issue as a separate state constitutional matter rather than solely controlled by the interpretation of the Fourteenth Amendment, supports the conclusion that Art. I, § 14 of the South Carolina Constitution provides even greater due process protections.

When the government destroys evidence connected with a criminal investigation under its sole control, this greater protection mandates a rejection of the “bad faith” requirement outlined in *Youngblood*. In its place, our Courts should follow the lead of other states who have rejected the bad faith requirement under state constitutional grounds. In those states, courts must first review the nature of the evidence and what duty, if any, existed to preserve it by the state. If such

a duty is found to exist, the courts should evaluate the appropriate remedy, including dismissal of the charges, for such violation.⁶

In State v. Ferguson, 2 S.W.3d 912, (Tenn. 1999), the Tennessee Supreme Court mandated courts review:

“1. The degree of negligence involved; 2. The significance of the destroyed evidence, considered in light of the probative value and reliability of secondary or substitute evidence that remains available; and 3. The sufficiency of the other evidence used at trial to support the conviction.”

Id., 2 S.W.3d at 917.

In State v. Osakalumi, 461 S.E.2d 504 (W.Va.1995), the West Virginia Supreme Court applied virtually identical factors:

(1) the degree of negligence or bad faith involved; (2) the importance of the missing evidence considering the probative value and reliability of secondary or substitute evidence that remains available; and (3) the sufficiency of the other evidence produced at the trial to sustain the conviction.

Id., 461 S.E.2d at 512. This Court should follow the lead of other states that have rejected the limited protections offered by the Youngblood framework and recognize that the South Carolina Constitution provides greater due process protections and when the government destroys evidence in its possession, bad faith need not be shown before a trial judge can dismiss criminal charges.

⁶ The state never disputed the video was discoverable or that it should have been preserved. Instead, the state relied solely on the lack of bad faith in the failing to preserve the video and its lack of obvious exculpatory evidence. R. 93, l. 2 – 94, l. 16.

D. Under the South Carolina Constitution’s due process protections, when evidence solely under the control and in the possession of the state that can reasonably be expected to play a significant role in the suspect's defense is not preserved and disclosed following proper discovery requests, the appropriate remedy is dismissal of the charges.

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