RECEIVED

May 09 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From Lexington County

The Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000467

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

VICTORIA COXE THREATT,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

ANDREW D. POWELL
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

S.R. RICK HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 East Main Street
Suite 309
Lexington, SC 29072

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court correctly found the State did not fail to preserve the evidence in an act of bad faith.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law. State v. Asbury, 328 S.C. 187, 193, 493 S.E.2d 349, 352 (1997). Appellate courts are bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5–6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). Questions of law are reviewed de novo. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016).

RELEVANT FACTS

Lugos was wearing a body camera throughout his interaction with Appellant and that camera was recording. (R. 144). The video was accidentally deleted when Lugos failed to flag it on the system. (R. 25; 144). The court found Appellant failed to meet her burden in establishing bad faith. (R. 99). The court reasoned that the prejudicial effect had been mitigated by the shortness in lapse of time and that the video would not be exculpatory in the nature of guilt. (R. 99-100). The court instructed the jury that when evidence is lost or destroyed, they could infer the evidence was adverse to the party who destroyed or lost it¹. (R. 358).

DISCUSSION

When it comes to the State's failure to preserve evidence, South Carolina law requires a showing of bad faith or an apparent exculpatory value to establish a violation of due process.

¹ "When evidence is lost or destroyed by a party, you may infer that the evidence which was lost or destroyed by that party would have been adverse to that party. If you find first that evidence was spoiled or destroyed, and if you further find that the evidence could help establish the innocence of the defendant, you may then consider those facts in deciding whether or not the State has met its burden of proof." (R. 358).

Here, the court correctly found neither where the deleted video was accidentally unpreserved.

This Court should affirm.

The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment ensures the State comports with prevailing notions of fundamental fairness. California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 485 (1984). Yet, the State does not have an absolute duty to preserve useful evidence that might vindicate a defendant. State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 552 S.E.2d 300 (2001); Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51 (1988).

To show ones Due Process rights have been violated, one must establish either the State destroyed the evidence in bad faith, or the State destroyed evidence that possessed an exculpatory value that was apparent before the evidence was destroyed and the defendant cannot obtain other evidence of comparable value by other means. State v. Mabe, 306 S.C. 355, 412 S.E.2d 386 (1991); State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 702 S.E.2d 395 (Ct. App. 2010).

In Arizona v. Youngblood, The United States Supreme Court held that one must show bad faith to establish a due process violation. Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 58 (1988) (“unless a criminal defendant can show bad faith on the part of the police, failure to preserve potentially useful evidence does not constitute a denial of due process of law”).

Appellant cites several cases where state courts have expanded upon the due process analysis in Youngblood. Namely, these states do not require a showing of bad faith to establish a due process violation under state law. Lee v. State, 503 P.3d 811, 818 (Alaska Ct. App. 2021) (“Unlike the federal constitution, the Alaska Constitution does not require a finding of bad faith”); State v. Ferguson, 2 S.W.3d 912, 914 (Tenn. 1999) (“[w]e now must determine whether the bad faith analysis of Youngblood adequately protects the right to a fair trial under the due process clause of the Tennessee Constitution”); Hammond v. State, 569 A.2d 81, 87 (Del. 1989)

(“We reaffirm our prior holdings, pursuant to the ‘due process’ requirements of the Delaware Constitution”).

Some states have determined that their state constitution does not offer protections that expand beyond Youngblood. The Supreme Court of Kentucky held that bad faith was required to establish a due process violation. Collins v. Com., 951 S.W.2d 569, 572 (Ky. 1997). The court explained that appellant urged the court to reject the bad faith standard in Youngblood simply because the Kentucky Constitution used slightly different wording than our Federal Constitution. Id. Ultimately, the court found that bad faith must be shown to satisfy the standard recognized by the Commonwealth. Id. See also State v. Luedtke, 851 N.W.2d 837, 843 (WI App. 2014)(“to prevail on a due process challenge regarding the destruction of potentially exculpatory evidence, the defendant must show that the evidence was apparently exculpatory at the time it was destroyed or that it was destroyed in bad faith”); State v. Hawkinson, 829 N.W.2d 367, 372 (Minn. 2013)(“our court has previously applied Youngblood’s bad-faith standard for determining whether the destruction of evidence violates a defendant’s right to due process”).

“Rules concerning [the] preservation of evidence are generally matters of state, not federal constitutional, law.” California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 491 (1984) (O’Connor, J., concurring) (citation omitted)). Thus, the question becomes whether our state law expands upon the protections outlined in the Youngblood analysis. South Carolina case law does expand upon the analysis; to establish a violation one must show bad faith or an apparent exculpatory value that cannot be obtained by other means. State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 552 S.E.2d 300 (2001) (Destruction of murder weapon did not require suppression where there was no bad faith and the gun was incriminating rather than exculpatory); State v. Mabe, 306 S.C. 355, 358–59, 412 S.E.2d 386, 388 (1991) (“A defendant must demonstrate either that the state destroyed evidence in bad

faith, or that the state destroyed evidence that possessed an exculpatory value that is apparent before the evidence was destroyed “). In State v. Moses, this Court explained:

South Carolina has adopted the duty to preserve analysis of Arizona v. Youngblood in its jurisprudence. While recognizing that the State does not possess an absolute duty to preserve potentially useful evidence, our state Supreme Court has held that a defendant must demonstrate either that the State destroyed evidence in bad faith, or the state destroyed evidence that possessed an exculpatory value that is apparent before the evidence was destroyed and the defendant cannot obtain other evidence of comparable value by other means.

State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 518, 702 S.E.2d 395, 404 (Ct. App. 2010).

Here, Lugos was wearing a body camera throughout his interaction with Appellant. (R. 144). Regrettably, the agent failed to flag the video and it was automatically deleted. (R. 25; 144). Nonetheless, the accidental deletion of this video was not an act of bad faith, as noted by the court. (R. 99). Additionally, the evidence did not have exculpatory value that was apparent at the time the video was accidentally deleted. Witnesses that observed the events at trial were able to establish the evidence through other means². Cf. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 518, 702 S.E.2d 395, 404 (Ct. App. 2010). (The State’s failure to preserve a tape that could have allowed defendant to identify witnesses alone was insufficient when the state provided a high school yearbook to help Moses in identifying potential witnesses). Appellant has failed to establish the State’s failure to preserve the video was in bad faith or was apparently exculpatory with no opportunity to obtain comparable evidence in other means. This court should affirm.

² Additionally, the court instructed the jury that they may infer any evidence lost was averse to the State. See State v. Reaves, 414 S.C. 118, 128, 777 S.E.2d 213, 218 (2015)(Defendant’s due process rights were not violated where there was no indication of bad faith, defendant was able to cross-examine police officers, and the trial court instructed the jury they could infer lost evidence would have been adverse to the State).

II. The trial court correctly denied Appellant's motion to dismiss because agent Lugos had reasonable suspicion to justify a search.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law. State v. Asbury, 328 S.C. 187, 193, 493 S.E.2d 349, 352 (1997). Appellate review of a motion to suppress based on the Fourth Amendment is a two-step analysis. The appellate court reviews the trial court's factual findings for any evidentiary support, but the legal conclusion of whether reasonable suspicion exists is a question of law reviewed de novo. State v. Frasier, 437 S.C. 625, 634, 879 S.E.2d 762, 766 (2022).

RELEVANT FACTS

Lugos received an anonymous tip that Appellant was engaged in illegal drug sales. (R. 39). Lugos testified he knocked on the door and Rowell initially opened the door partially and told him Appellant was in the bathroom. (R. 34-35). He stated shortly thereafter, Rowell opened the door fully and Lugos saw Appellant on the couch. (R. 34-35). Lugos was on the premises to conduct a home visit, not to search the home. (R. 20; 33). He saw Appellant's purse and asked for her consent to search it; Lugos testified she let him search freely and voluntarily. (R. 20). Inside the bag was a large amount of cash. (R. 141).

Lugos further testified that before he looked in the black bag Appellant told him the bag contained a marijuana grinder and showed it to Lugos. (R. 22; 41). Lugos testified he did not force or threaten Appellant to open the bag. (R. 41). Lugos stated that once she opened the bag he saw the grinder as well as bags with a white substance and a scale. (R. 41). At that point he stopped and called narcotics officers. (R. 42). Appellant volunteered to Officer Weyandt that she owned the drugs. (R. 81-82).

Appellant testified that she did not own the bag containing the drugs and other evidence seized. (R. 68). Appellant also testified Lugos was able to get her to open the bag by telling Appellant she could not refuse. (R. 69).

The court found the totality of the circumstances were more than sufficient grounds to establish Lugos had reasonable suspicion. (R. 110). The court pointed to the way the door was opened, seeing the large amount of cash, and his understanding of who Appellant was. (R. 110).

DISCUSSION

The United States Supreme Court has established that “probationers and parolees have a significantly diminished expectation of privacy.” Com. v. Moore, 473 Mass. 481, 485, 43 N.E.3d 294, 299 (2016). According to S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-410 a defendant on probation agrees to a search based on reasonable suspicion. Before a defendant may be placed on probation, he must consent in writing to be subject to a search or seizure, without a search warrant, based on reasonable suspicions. The statute provides remedy in the form of discipline to law enforcement officers.

“The term reasonable suspicion requires a particularized and objective basis that would lead one to suspect another of criminal activity.” State v. Woodruff, 344 S.C. 537, 546, 544 S.E.2d 290, 295 (Ct. App. 2001). Reasonable suspicion exists when an officer can identify “specific and articulable facts that, when taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant the search and seizure.” United States v. Estrada, 459 F.3d 627, 631 (5th Cir. 2006). Reasonable suspicion is a less demanding standard than probable cause in that it may be established with a lower quantity of evidence or even less reliable evidence. Alabama v. White, 496 U.S. 325 (1990). When making reasonable-suspicion determinations “courts must look at the ‘totality of the circumstances’ of each case.” United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 274 (2002).

A homeowner may grant consent to search the premises on which a criminal defendant resides if the homeowner possesses common authority over or sufficient relationship to the premises or effects to be inspected. State v. Pressley, 288 S.C. 128, 130, 341 S.E.2d 626, 627 (1986). Whether a consent to search was voluntary or the product of duress or coercion, express or implied, is a question of fact to be determined from the totality of the circumstances. State v. Wallace, 269 S.C. 547, 238 S.E.2d 675 (1977).

Here, Lugos had consent and reasonable suspicion to search the relevant articles. Lugos had received an anonymous tip that Appellant was engaged in illegal drug sales. (R. 39). Lugos testified he knocked on the door and Rowell initially opened the door partially and told him Appellant was in the bathroom. (R. 34-35). Lugos testified he received consent to search Appellant's purse. (R. 20). The purse contained a large amount of cash. (R. 141).

Lugos testified Appellant told him a marijuana grinder was in the black bag. (R. 22; 41). Lugos testified he did not force or threaten Appellant to open the bag. (R. 41). Lugos stated that once she opened the bag, he saw the grinder as well as some bags with a white substance and a scale. (R. 41). Lugos recalled specific and articulable facts that supported the court's finding of reasonable suspicion. Appellant has failed to show the court erred in finding Lugos had reasonable suspicion. This Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION